IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 99-41426

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

MANUEL MORENO, JR.,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas
1:99-CR-29- ALL

January 2, 2002
Before GARWOOD and WENER, Circuit Judges and VANCE,"~ District

Judge.
PER CURI AM **

Appel | ant Manuel Moreno appeals his sentence for possession
wWth intent to distribute marijuana, in violation of 21 U S. C 8§

841(a)(1). Because the bill of information did not charge a

District Judge of the Eastern District of Louisiana,
sitting by designation.

Pursuant to 5th CGr. R 47.5, the court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limted circunstances set forth in 5th CGr. R
47.5. 4.



specific quantity of marijuana, and Moreno’ s sentence exceeded five
years, we vacate his sentence and remand to the district court for
resent enci ng under Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U. S. 466, 120 S. C.
2348 (2000).
| . Backgr ound

Moreno was originally indicted for being a felon i n possession
of a firearmunder 18 U.S.C. 8 922(g)(1). During a traffic stop,
police officers found a | oaded pistol on the driver’s side of the
truck Moreno was driving. The officers also found 175 pounds of
marijuana in a conpani on vehicle. Mreno pleaded not guilty to the
gun charge and asserted his innocence at trial. Moreno testified
at trial that he was unaware that the firearmwas in the vehicle.
The jury failed to reach a verdict, and the judge declared a
mstrial. Two nonths |ater, the governnent filed a one-count bil
of information charging Mireno wth possession with intent to
di stribute an unspecified anount of marijuana, in violation of 21
US C 8§ 841(a)(1l). The drug charge arose out of the sanme traffic
stop that was the factual basis for the gun charge. That sane day,
Moreno wai ved his right to an indictnment and pleaded guilty to the
bill of information in accordance with a witten plea agreenent.
Moreno also admtted in the plea agreenent that he possessed a
firearmin connection with the drug offense and that a two-point
sentenci ng enhancenent should be applied under US S G 8§

2D1. 1(b) (1).



Moreno was sentenced several nonths |ater. As part of the
presentence i nvestigation, Moreno gave an interviewto a probation
officer. During that interview, Mreno denied that he knew that
the gun was in the car when he commtted the marijuana offense.
The probation officer determ ned that Mdreno was responsi ble for
79. 67 kilograns of marijuana, and based on that anount, cal cul ated
Moreno’s base offense level at 22. The probation officer
recommended that a two-level increase for possession of a firearm
under U S.S.G § 2D1.1(b)(1) be added to Mdreno’s offense |evel
Moreno’s crimnal history category was Il, which, at an offense
|l evel of 24, resulted in a sentencing guideline range of 57-71
mont hs’ inprisonnent. The probation officer reconmmended that the
district court deny Mreno a two-point downward adjustnent for
acceptance of responsibility because Mreno failed to accept
responsibility for all rel evant conduct involved in the offense, in
particul ar, the possession of the firearm Mreno objected to the
probation officer’s recommendati on.

At sentencing, the district court overrul ed Moreno’ s obj ection
and sentenced himto 71 nonths’ inprisonnent and three years of
supervi sed release. The district court found that Mdreno was not
entitled to a dowmward adj ustment for acceptance of responsibility
because during the presentence i nterview, Mreno maintained that he
did not possess a firearm in connection wth the offense. The
district court also referred to a section of the presentence
i nvestigation report that recomended that Moreno be denied a
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downwar d adj ust nent for acceptance of responsibility because Mreno
had forced the governnent to go to trial on the gun charge in the
first case. Mireno filed a tinely notice of appeal.

On appeal, Mreno challenges both the district court’s
refusal to grant him a downward adjustnent for acceptance of
responsibility and the validity of his sentence under Apprendi v.
New Jersey, 530 U. S. 466, 120 S. C. 2348 (2000).

1. Discussion
B. Accept ance of Responsibility
1. St andard of Revi ew

The determ nation of the sentencing judge on acceptance of
responsibility is entitled to great deference on review See
US SG 8§ 3EL.1 comment. n.5 (Nov. 2001). Failure to depart
downward for acceptance of responsibility constitutes reversible
error only when that decision is nade w thout any foundation.
United States v. Patino-Cardenas, 85 F.3d 1133, 1136 (5th Gr.
1996) . 1

2. Anal ysi s

1 We have not definitively determ ned what standard applies
when reviewing a district court’s refusal to grant a defendant a
downward adjustnent for acceptance of responsibility. Conpar e
United States v. WIlder, 15 F.3d 1292, 1298 (5th Gr.
1994) (applying the "clearly erroneous" standard), wth United
States v. Patino-Cardenas, 85 F.3d 1133, 1136 (5th GCr.
1996) (applying the “w thout foundation” standard), and United
States v. Spires, 79 F.3d 464, 467 (5th Gr. 1996) (applying the
“great deference” standard). W have found, however, that “[t] here
appears to be no practical difference between the three standards.”
United States v. Cartwight, 6 F.3d 294, 304 (5th Gr. 1993).
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Section 3El1.1 of the United States Sentencing Cuidelines
provides for a two or three level reduction in a defendant’s
sentence if the defendant “clearly denonstrates acceptance of
responsibility for his offense.” U S S. G § 3E1.1(a)(Nov. 2001).
The comentary to section 3EL.1 provides a non-exhaustive |ist of
considerations that sentencing courts are to take into account in
determ ning whether the defendant has accepted responsibility,
which include whether the defendant has falsely denied or
frivolously contested relevant conduct. See U S S.G § 3El1.1(a),
coment. n.1(a) (Nov. 2001) (“[A] defendant who fal sely denies, or
frivol ously contests, rel evant conduct that the court determnes to
be true has acted in a manner inconsistent wth acceptance of
responsibility.”).

Moreno asserts that the district court’s failure to grant him
a downwar d adj ust nent for acceptance of responsibility based on his
refusal to admt to possession of the firearmviolated his Fifth
Amendnent right against self-incrimnation. He argues that a
contrary ruling would force himto choose between (1) accepting
responsibility for a crinme, other than the one to which he has
pl eaded guilty, wthout the protection of imunity, and (2)
forfeiting any consideration for a reduction in sentence. The
Court di sagrees.

In this case, the governnent agreed in the plea agreenent not

to prosecute Moreno on the gun charge. Further, there has been no



conpel l ed self-incrimnation on these facts. See United States v.
Mourning, 914 F.2d 699, 706-707 (5th Cr. 1990)(statutorily
overrul ed on ot her grounds); see also United States v. Kl einebreil,
906 F.2d 945, 953 (5th Cr. 1992) (reaffirmng the holding of
Mourning that requiring a defendant to accept responsibility for
rel evant conduct does not violate Fifth Amendnent). The | aw of
this circuit firmy establishes that requiring a defendant to
accept responsibility for all relevant conduct before awarding a
reduction for acceptance of responsibility does not deny def endant
his right against self-incrimnation. 1d. Accordingly, Mreno was
required to accept responsibility for the conduct involved in the
drug of fense, as well as for the rel evant conduct of possessing the
firearmin connection wth the drug of fense, before he was entitled
to a dowmmward adj ustnent for acceptance of responsibility.

We find that the district court had sufficient grounds to
deny def endant a downward adj ustnent for acceptance of
responsibility. During the course of an extended colloquy wth
def ense counsel during the sentencing hearing, the district court
explicitly found that Mreno was not entitled to a downward
adjustnent for acceptance of responsibility because he nmade
contradictory statenents regarding the firearm during the
presentence interview and in the plea agreenent. The court stated
t hat “defendant was not being truthful at the tinme of the plea or

he was not being truthful during the presentence interview”’



Accordingly, the court found that it was not appropriate to grant
hi m accept ance of responsibility.

Qur review of the record reveals that Mreno acknow edged in
his plea agreenent that he possessed a firearm during his drug
trafficking activities and stipulated to a two-1evel enhancenent
under U.S.S.G 8 2D1.1(b)(1). 1In contrast, in his interviewwth
the probation officer, Mreno clainmed that he did not possess a
firearmin connection with the of fense. |ndeed, Moreno denied t hat
the gun in his vehicle was his or that he knew that it was in the
vehicle until the police stopped him He asserted that the firearm
in his vehicle belonged to his nephew. W find that the sentencing
judge had a sufficient basis to find that Mdireno did not accept
responsibility for relevant conduct because he changed his story
regardi ng the gun between the tine he entered the plea agreenent,
in which he admtted that he possessed the gun in connection with
the offense, and the tinme of the presentence interview, in which he
asserted his unawareness of the gun and blaned it on his nephew.

The district court additionally appeared to rely on another
basis for denying the downward adjustnent. The district court
stated during the sentencing hearing that, “[t]here 1is no
adj ustnent for acceptance of responsibility for the reasons stated
i n paragraph 21 [of the PSR] and the coll oquy between counsel and
the court on his objection.” Paragraph 21 of the PSR states that
Moreno’s earlier decision to go to trial on the gun charge was
anot her reason that he should be denied a downward adj ustnent for
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acceptance of responsibility.
The defendant failed to fully accept responsibility
regardi ng relevant conduct and offense characteristics
associated with the instant offense. USSG § 3EL.1,
coment. (n.la). Furt hernore, Myreno proceeded on the
count of Indictnent to trial dealing wth “factual
guilt.” Thus, this has put the Governnent to its burden

of proof and has expended the resources of the Court,

which may have been otherwi se used nore efficiently.

US S G 8 3E1.1, cooment. (n.2 and 6).

Whether it is permssible for the sentencing court to find
that Moreno’s “not guilty” plea to the earlier indictnent on the
gun charge constituted a false denial of relevant conduct in the
| ater drug case is a question of law for this Court to review de
novo. United States v. Brown, 29 F.3d 953, 959 (5th GCr. 1994).
We need not reach this question, however. The district court’s
conclusion that Mreno had not accepted responsibility was
primarily based on its finding that Mreno nmade contradictory
statenents about the gun possession. This finding alone is
sufficient to warrant deni al of acceptance of responsibility. See,
e.g., United States v. Paredes-Batista, 140 F. 3d 367, 380 (2d Cr
1998) (affirmng denial of an adjustnent for acceptance of
responsibility when factual basis supported denial even though
district court also relied on a flawed | egal theory).

C. Appr endi

Moreno raises his Apprendi challenge for the first time on

appeal . Accordingly, this Court reviews the district court’s

decision for “plain error.” United States v. Gonzal ez, 259 F.3d
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355-359 (5th Cir. 2001).

Moreno argues that the two-level sentence enhancenent for
possession of a firearmviolated Apprendi. Section 2D1.1(b)(1) of
t he gui delines provides for a two-level sentencing enhancenent for
weapons possession “unless it is clearly inprobable that the weapon
was connected with the offense.” U S S.G 8§ 2D1.1, comment. n.3
(Nov. 2001). Here, Mreno stipulated in his plea agreenent that he
possessed a firearmin connection with the drug offense.

Sent enci ng enhancenents under the guidelines, |ike section
2D1.1, do not inplicate Apprendi. See United States v. Randle, 259
F.3d 319, 322 (5th Gr. 2000). In Randle, this court reiterated
that a sentencing court’s factual findings under the guidelines are
not governed by Apprendi. 1d. (citing United States v. Doggett,
230 F.3d 160, 165 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 531 U S 1177, 121 S
Ct. 1152 (2000) (finding that Apprendi was specifically limted to
facts that increase the penalty beyond the statutory maxi num and
does not invalidate a court’s factual finding for the purposes of
determ ning the applicable Sentencing GQuidelines)). Therefore, we
found that Apprendi did not apply to the section 2D1.1 sentencing
enhancenent for possession of a firearm ld. (“Application of
enhancenents call ed for by the guidelines my not be used to i npose
any sentence beyond the statutory maxinmum prescribed by an
of fense.”).

Qur reviewof the record reveal s, however, that Moreno’s bil



of information failed to allege a drug quantity. Al though Mdreno’s
Apprendi challenge did not nention the governnent’s failure to
all ege a specific drug quantity, the Court inits discretion finds
that it is in the interests of justice and fairness to consider
this argunent. See United States v. Mranda, 248 F.3d 434, 443-44
(5th Cr. 2001) (refusing to find the Apprendi chall enge waived
when “it is clear fromthe record in this case that Appellants were
sentenced i n violation of constitutional due process as interpreted
by the Suprenme Court in Apprendi.”); Randle, 259 F.3d at 320-21.

We have held under Apprendi that “if the governnent seeks
enhanced penalties based on the anmount of drugs under 21 U S.C. 8§
841(b)(1)(A) or (B), the quantity nust be stated in the indictnent
and submtted to a jury for a finding of proof beyond a reasonabl e
doubt .” Doggett, 230 F.3d at 165. When defendant is either
charged and convicted or is charged and pleads guilty to an
unstated quantity, def endant nmay be sentenced only under the
appl i cabl e default provisions of section 841. See United States v.
Gonzal ez, 259 F.3d 355, 359 (5th Cir. 2001)(citations omtted).
See also United States v. Longorio, 259 F.3d 363, 365 (5th Cr.
2001) (per curiam. For marijuana, section 841(b)(1)(D) sets forth
the statutory maxi mum See CGonzal ez, 259 F.3d at 359.

Under Section 841(b)(1)(D), in the absence of a prior
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conviction for a felony drug offense,? the statutory nmaximm to
whi ch Moreno may be sentenced is a termof inprisonnent of not nore
than five years and supervised release of not nore than three
years. The Court finds that the district court | acked jurisdiction
to inpose a |longer sentence on Mdreno of 71 nonths’ inprisonnent
and four years of supervised release. See CGonzal ez, 259 F.3d at
n.3; Longorio, 259 F.3d at 365. We, therefore, vacate Myreno' s
sentence and remand to the district court for resentencing in
accordance with this opinion.
I11. Conclusion

We affirm the district court’s denial of a reduction for
acceptance of responsibility, but because the sentence i nposed
exceeds the statutory maxi mum of 60 nonths for the offense of
conviction, thus violating Apprendi, we vacate Mreno' s sentence

and remand for resentencing.

2 |f the defendant has a prior felony drug conviction, 21
US C 8§ 841(b)(1)(D provides for a statutory maxi numof ten years
i nprisonnment and four years of supervised release. Although the
probation officer determned in the pre-sentence report that Mreno
had been convicted of a drug offense, the record indicates that the
governnent did not file a bill of information with the court
stating in witing the previous convictions to be relied upon as
required by 21 U S . C § 851. Section 851 provides that “[n]o
person who stands convicted of an offense under this part shall be
sentenced to increased punishnent by reason of one or nore prior
convictions, unless before trial, or before entry of a plea of
guilty, the United States attorney files an information with the
court. " Accordingly, since the governnent did not conply
wth the requirenents of section 851, it cannot now rely upon
Moreno’s prior conviction to increase his sentence under section
841(b) (1) (D). (Tr. Plea, at 14-15.) See United States v.
Martinez, 253 F.3d 251, 255, n.4 (6th Cr. 2001).
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AFFI RVED i n part; VACATED and REMANDED in part.
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